
IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF 
MISSOURI. WESTERN DIVISION. 

United States of America, Plaintiff, vs. Adam Richetti, Defendant. No. 12777 
INDICTMENT 

The grand jurors of the United States of America, duly and legally chosen, selected, 
summoned and drawn from the body of the Western District of Missouri, and duly and legally 
empaneled, sworn and charged to inquire of and concerning crimes and offenses against the 
United States of America in the Western District of Missouri, upon their oaths present and 
charge that one ADAM RICHETTI, whose true name other than set forth is to this grand jury 
unknown, and Charles Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd, and Vernon C. Miller, alias Verne 
Mason, alias Verne Moore, and divers other persons whose names are to this grand jury 
unknown and cannot therefore be set forth specifically, did enter into an unlawful conspiracy to 
violate the laws of the United States of America in the manner and form and by the means as 
follows: 

That one Frank Nash, whose true and full name other than as herein set forth is to this 
grand jury unknown, was, on the 1st day of March, 1924, duly and lawfully convicted in the 
United States District Court for the Western District of the State of Oklahoma, at Oklahoma 
City, Oklahoma, of the crime and felony of assaulting a certain United States malls custodian, in 
violation of the laws of the Criminal Code of the United States of America, and in accordance 
with said conviction, the said Frank Nash was, on the 1st day of March, 1924, duly sentenced by 
said Court to imprisonment in the United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas for a term 
of twenty-five years, and was, on the 3rd day of March, 1924, duly committed to the United 
States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas pursuant to and in accordance with said conviction 
and sentence, and was, on said 3rd day of March, 1924, duly received, imprisoned and confined 
in said United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas under the custody of the Attorney 
General of the United States, pursuant to the direction of the Attorney General of the United 
States; that thereafter, and after the said Frank Nash had been so received at said United States 
Penitentiary as aforesaid, by the Warden thereof, to serve said sentence and before he, the 
said Frank Nash, was lawfully entitled to be discharged from said United States Penitentiary, 
and before said Frank Nash had duly complied with said sentence, he, the said Frank Nash, 
while so confined in said United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas, and while he, the 
said Frank Nash, was so confined under the custody of the Attorney General of the United 
States as aforesaid, pursuant to the direction of the Attorney General of the United States as 
aforesaid, he, the said Frank Nash did, on the 19th day of October, 1930, at said United States 
Penitentiary located at Leavenworth, Kansas, unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and feloniously 
escape therefrom, in violation of the statutes made and provided in such cases, and against the 
peace and dignity of the United States of America. That from the time of said escape, towit, the 
said 19th day of October, 1930, until the 16th day of June, 1933, the said Frank Nash remained 
at large and a fugitive as an escaped prisoner and convict from the said United States 
Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas. 

That on the 16th day of June, 1933, at the City of Hot Springs, in the State of Arkansas, the 
said Frank Nash was apprehended as such escaped prisoner and convict, and was, at said time 
and place, lawfully taken into the custody of the Attorney General of the United States by duly 
authorized representatives of the Attorney General of the United States, towit, one F. S. Smith 



and one F. J. Lackey, agents of the United States Bureau of Investigation (now Division of 
Investigation) of the Department of Justice, for the purpose of re-incarcerating the said Frank 
Nash in said United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas by transporting the said Frank 
Nash, as such escaped prisoner and convict, on the 16th day of June, 1933, from Hot Springs, 
Arkansas to the United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas by transporting said escaped 
prisoner and convict on said date from Hot Springs, Arkansas to Kansas City, Jackson County, 
Missouri, and from Kansas City, Jackson County, Missouri to the United States Penitentiary at 
Leavenworth, Kansas. 

That on or about the said 16th day of June, 1933, and continuously thereafter until the 
completion of the overt act hereinafter charged, at a point in and near Kansas City, Jackson 
County, Missouri, in the Western Division of the Western District of Missouri, and within the 
jurisdiction of this court, and at other planes unknown to this grand jury, the defendant ADAM 
RICHETTI, and Charles Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and Vernon C. Miller, alias Verne 
Mason, in the Western Division of the Western District of Missouri, and within the jurisdiction 
of this court, on said 17th day of June, 1955, unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and feloniously 
commit certain overt acts for the purpose of carrying out the terms and conditions of said 
unlawful conspiracy, and to effect the object and purpose of said unlawful conspiracy, and to 
consummate the same, one of which said overt acts is as follows: 
1. 

That after the formation of said conspiracy as aforesaid, and in pursuance thereof, the 
defendant ADAM RICHETTI, and Charles Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and Vernon C. 
Miller, alias Verne Mason, alias Verne Moore and said others not named herein and not herein 
indicted and whose names are unknown to this grand jury as aforestated, did, on the 17th day 
of June, 1933, at Kansas City, Jackson County, Missouri, in the Western Division of the Western 
District of Missouri, and within the jurisdiction of this court, unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and 
feloniously assault the said F. S. Smith, the said F. J. Lackey, one Raymond J. Caffrey and one R. 
E. Vetterli, agents of the United States Bureau of Investigation (now Division of Investigation) of 
the Department of Justice, and then and there unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and feloniously 
assault one Frank Hermanson and one William Grooms, police officers of the City of Kansas 
City, Missouri, and Otto Reed, police officer of the City of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, by 
shooting at the said F. S. Smith, F. J. Lackey, Raymond J. Caffrey, R. E. Vetterli, Frank 
Hermanson, William Grooms and Otto Reed with certain deadly weapons, firearms and 
machine guns, and by inflicting mortal wounds in and upon the bodies of the said Raymond J. 
Caffrey, Frank Hermanson, William alias Verne “Moore and numerous and divers other persons 
whose names are to this grand jury unknown end cannot therefore he set forth specifically, did, 
at said times and places, unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and feloniously conspire, confederate 
and agree together and with each other and among themselves to violate the laws of the 
United States of America, and particularly the laws of the United States of America pertaining 
to persons who procure the escape of any prisoner properly committed to the custody of the 
Attorney General or to any penal institution, pursuant to the direction of the Attorney General, 
that is to say, to violate Section 753 i, Title 18, United States Code Annotated, in this, that they 
would thereafter unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and feloniously procure the escape of the said 
Frank Nash from the custody of the Attorney General, which said Frank Nash was then properly 
committed to the custody of the Attorney General, pursuant to the direction of the Attorney 



General, and would unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and feloniously advise, connive at, aid and 
assist in the escape of the said Frank Nash from the custody of the Attorney General of the 
United States and the duly authorized representatives of the Attorney General. 

That the defendant ADAM RICHETTI, and Charles Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and 
Vernon C. Miller, alias Verne Mason, alias Verne Moore and said others not named or hereby 
indicted in this indictment, and whose names are unknown to this grand jury as aforestated, 
thereafter, and on the 17th day of June, 1933, in pursuance of said conspiracy, and to effect the 
object and purpose of said conspiracy and to consummate the same, did, at Kansas City, 
Jackson County, Missouri, Grooms and Otto Reed by means of and by use of said deadly 
weapons, firearms and machine guns; that said assault was made upon the said F. S. Smith, F. J. 
Lackey, Raymond J. Caffrey, R. E. Vetterli, Frank Hermanson, William Grooms and Otto Reed at 
said time and place and at a time and while the said Frank Nash was in the custody of said 
agents of the Bureau of Investigation (now Division of Investigation), as representatives of the 
Attorney General of the United States of America, who were then and there transporting the 
said Frank Nash, with the aid and assistance of said police officers, as such escaped prisoner 
and convict as aforesaid, from Kansas City, Jackson County, Missouri to the United States 
Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas. 

That the said overt act as set forth and charged of assaulting the said F. S. Smith, F. J. 
Lackey, Raymond J. Caffrey, R. E. Vetterli, Frank Hermanson, William Grooms and Otto Reed, 
and shooting the said F. J. Lackey, Raymond J. Caffrey, Frank Hermanson, William Grooms and 
Otto Reed was an overt act done and committed by the defendant ADAM RICHETTI, Charles 
Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and Vernon C. Miller, alias Verne Mason, alias Verne 
Moore in pursuance of said unlawful conspiracy and to effect the object and purpose thereof 
and to consummate the same: Contrary to the form of the statute in such case made and 
provided, and against the peace and dignity of the United States of America. 
COUNT II 

And the grand jurors aforesaid, upon their oaths aforesaid, do further present and charge 
that one Frank Nash, whose true and full name other than as herein set forth is to this grand 
jury unknown, was, on the 1st day of March, 1924, duly and lawfully convicted in the United 
States District Court for the Western District of the State of Oklahoma, at Oklahoma City, 
Oklahoma, of the crime and felony of assaulting a certain United States mails custodian, in 
violation of the laws of the Criminal Code of the United States of America, and in accordance 
with said conviction the said Frank Nash was, on the 1st day of March, 1924, duly sentenced by 
said Court to imprisonment in the United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas for a term 
of twenty-five years, and was, on the 3rd day of March, 1924, duly committed to the United 
States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas pursuant to and in accordance with said conviction 
and sentence, and was, on said 3rd day of March, 1924, duly received, imprisoned and confined 
in said United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas under the custody of the Attorney 
General of the United States, pursuant to the direction of the Attorney General of the United 
States; that thereafter, and after the said Frank Nash had been so received, at said United 
States Penitentiary as aforesaid, by the Warden thereof, to serve said sentence, and before he, 
the said Frank Nash, was lawfully entitled to be discharged from said United States 
Penitentiary, and before said Frank Nash had duly complied with said sentence, he, the said 
Frank Nash, while so confined in said United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas, and 



while he, the said Frank Nash, was so confined under the custody of the Attorney General of 
the United States as aforesaid, pursuant to the direction of the Attorney General of the United 
States as aforesaid, he, the said Frank Nash did, on the 19th day of October, 1930, at said 
United States Penitentiary located at Leavenworth, Kansas, unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and 
feloniously escape therefrom, in violation of the statutes made and provided in such cases, and 
against the peace and dignity of the United States of America. 

That from the time of said escape, towit, the said 19th day of October, 1930, until the 16th 
day of June, 1933, the said Frank Nash remained at large and a fugitive as an escaped prisoner 
and convict from the said United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas. 

That on and before the 16th day of June, 1953, at a point in and near Kansas City, Jackson 
County, Missouri, in the Western Division of the Western District of Missouri, and within the 
jurisdiction of this court, and at other places unknown to this grand jury, the defendant ADAM 
RICHETTI, and Charles Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and Vernon C. Miller, alias Verne 
Mason, alias Verne Moore and others not named herein or herein indicted in this indictment 
whose names are unknown to the grand jury as aforestated, did, at said time and places 
unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and feloniously conspire, confederate and agree together and 
with each other and among themselves to violate the laws of the United States of America., and 
more particularly the laws of the United States of America pertaining to persons who conceal 
any prisoner after the escape of such prisoner from the custody of the Attorney General at a 
time when such person was properly committed to and in the custody of the Attorney General, 
and particularly the laws of the United States of America prohibiting any person from procuring 
the escape of any inmate or prisoner properly committed to any penal institution of the United 
States, or from concealing any such inmate of prisoner after escaping from such penal 
institution of the United States, towit, Section 753 i, Title 18, United States Code Annotated, in 
this, that the defendant ADAM RICHETTI, and Charles Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and 
Vernon C. Miller, alias Verne Mason, alias Verne Moore, and others not named herein whose 
names are unknown to this grand jury as aforestated, well knowing the said Frank Nash was an 
escaped prisoner and convict from the United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas as 
heretofore set forth and charged, and well knowing that he had escaped from the custody of 
the Attorney General as aforesaid, and well knowing that he had escaped from said United 
States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas as aforesaid, in this, that the said defendant ADAM 
RICHETTI, and Charles Arthur Floyd, aliens "Pretty Boy" Floyd and Vernon C. Miller, alias Verne 
Mason, alias Verne Moore, well knowing these facts, would unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and 
feloniously, at divers places in the State of Missouri, including divers places in the Western 
District of Missouri, and within the jurisdiction of this court, and at other places unknown to 
this grand jury, thereafter conceal the whereabouts of the said Frank Nash after the escape of 
the said Frank Nash from the custody of the Attorney General as aforesaid, and from the United 
States Penitentiary as aforesaid, and would, as aforesaid, aid and assist the said Frank Nash in 
concealing his identity and his whereabouts, as such escaped prisoner and convict, and would 
assist and aid the said Frank Nash by preventing any officers or agents of the United States of 
America, or officials thereof, from learning of the whereabouts of the said Frank Nash, or from 
apprehending and arresting the said Frank Nash, or from taking the said Frank Nash into 
custody or into the custody of the Attorney General of the United States or his duly authorized 
representatives or from taking the said Frank Nash to the United States Penitentiary at 



Leavenworth, Kansas for the purpose of re-incarcerating him in said Penitentiary, there to 
complete serving said sentence and term of imprisonment. 

That the defendant ADAM RICHETTI, and Charles Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and 
Vernon C. Miller, alias Verne Mason, alias Verne Moore and said others not named or hereby 
indicted in this indictment, and whose names are unknown to this grand jury as aforestated, 
thereafter, and on the 17th day of June, 1933, in pursuance of said conspiracy, and to effect the 
object and purpose of said conspiracy and to consummate the same, did, at Kansas City, 
Jackson County, Missouri, in the Western Division of the Western District of Missouri, and 
within the jurisdiction of this court, on said 17th day of June, 1933, unlawfully, wilfully, 
knowingly and feloniously commit certain overt acts for the purpose of carrying out the terms 
and conditions of said unlawful conspiracy, and to effect the object and purpose of said 
unlawful conspiracy, and to consummate the same, one of which said overt acts is as follows: 
1. 

That the defendant ADAM RICHETTI, and Charles Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and 
Vernon C. Miller, alias Verne Mason, alias Verne Moore, and said others not named herein and 
not herein indicted, and whose names are unknown to this grand ''jury as aforestated, did, on 
the 17th day of June, 1933, at Kansas City, Jackson County, Missouri, in the Western Division of 
the Western District of Missouri, and within the jurisdiction of this court, unlawfully, wilfully, 
knowingly and feloniously assault the said F. S. Smith, the said F. J. Lackey, one Raymond J. 
Caffrey and one R. E. Vetterli, agents of the United States Bureau of Investigation (now Division 
of Investigation) of the Department of Justice, and then and there unlawfully, wilfully, 
knowingly and feloniously assault one Frank Hermanson and one William Grooms, police 
officers of the City of Kansas City, Missouri, and Otto Reed, Police officer of the City of 
Oklahoma, City, Oklahoma, by shooting at the said F. S. Smith, F, J. Lackey, Raymond J. Caffrey, 
R. E. Vetterli, Frank Hermanson, William Grooms and Otto Reed with certain deadly weapons, 
firearms and machine guns, and by inflicting mortal wounds in and upon the bodies of the said 
Raymond J. Caffrey, Frank Hermanson, William Grooms and Otto Reed by means of and by use 
of said deadly weapons, firearms and machine guns in an attempt and endeavor to prevent the 
said F. S. Smith, F. J. Lackey, Raymond J. Caffrey, R. E. Vetterli, Frank Hermanson, William 
Grooms and Otto Reed from apprehending, arresting and confining the said Frank Nash in the 
United States Penitentiary, there to serve the remainder of said sentence of imprisonment in 
said United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas. 

That said overt act as set forth and charged of assaulting the said F. S. Smith, F. J. Lackey, 
Raymond J. Caffrey, R. E, Vetterli, Frank Hermanson, William Grooms and Otto Reed and 
shooting the said F. J. Lackey, Raymond J. Caffrey, Frank Hermanson, William Grooms and Otto 
Reed was an overt act done and committed by the defendant ADAH RICHETTI, and Charles 
Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and Vernon C. Miller, alias Verne Mason, alias Verne 
Moore in pursuance of said unlawful conspiracy and to effect the object and purpose of the 
same: Contrary to the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the 
peace and dignity of the United States cf America. 
COUNT III 

And the grand jurors aforesaid, upon their oaths aforesaid, do further present and charge 
that one Frank Nash, whose true and full name other than as herein set forth in this indictment 
is to this grand jury unknown, was, on the 1st day of March, 1924, duly and lawfully convicted 



in the United States District Court for the Western District of the State of Oklahoma, at 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, of the crime and felony of assaulting a certain United States mails 
custodian, in violation of the laws of the Criminal Code of the United States of America, and in 
accordance with said conviction the said Frank Nash was, on the 1st day of March, 1924, duly 
sentenced by said Court to imprisonment in the United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, 
Kansas for a term of twenty-five years, and was, by virtue of process issued under the 
provisions of the laws of the United States of America pursuant to said sentence by said Court, 
namely, a lawful commitment, on the 3rd day of March, 1924, duly and lawfully committed to 
the custody of the Attorney General of the United States of America at the United States 
Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas, pursuant to and in accordance with said conviction, 
sentence and commitment and for incarceration in said United States Penitentiary at 
Leavenworth, Kansas for the term and duration of said sentence, and was, accordingly, on the 
3rd day of March, 1924, duly received, imprisoned, committed and confined in said United 
States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas under the custody of the Attorney General of the 
United States and pursuant to the direction of the Attorney General of the United States; that 
thereafter, and after the said Frank Nash had been so received and committed at and to said 
United States Penitentiary as aforesaid, by the Warden thereof, to serve said sentence, and 
before he, the said Frank Nash, was lawfully entitled to be discharged from said United States 
Penitentiary, and before said Frank Nash had duly complied with said sentence, he, the said 
Frank Nash, while so confined in said United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas, and 
while he, the said Frank Nash, was so confined under the custody of the Attorney General of 
the United States as aforesaid, and pursuant to the direction of the Attorney General of the 
United States as aforesaid, he, the said Frank Nash, did, on the 19th day of October, 1930, at 
said United States Penitentiary located at Leavenworth, Kansas, unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly 
and feloniously escape therefrom, in violation of the statutes made and provided in such cases, 
and against the peace and dignity of the United States. 

That from the time of said escape, towit, the said 19th day of October, 1930, until the 16th 
day of June, 1933, the said Frank Nash remained at large and a fugitive as an escaped prisoner 
and convict from the said United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas. 

That on the 16th day of June, 1933, at the City of Hot Springs, in the State of Arkansas, the 
said Frank Nash was, pursuant to the direction of the Attorney General of the United States, by 
duly authorized representatives of the Attorney General of the United States, namely F. S. 
Smith and one F. J. Lackey, acting under and by virtue of said commitment issued by said Court 
as aforesaid, arrested and apprehended as such escaped prisoner and convict and was at said 
time and place lawfully taken into custody of the Attorney General of the United States by his 
representatives aforesaid for the purpose of re-incarcerating the said Frank Nash in the United 
States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas by transporting the said Frank Nash, as such 
escaped prisoner and convict, on the 16th day of June, 1933, from Hot Springs, Arkansas to the 
United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas by transporting the said escaped prisoner 
and convict on said day from Hot Springs, Arkansas to Kansas City, Jackson County, Missouri 
and from Kansas City, Jackson County, Missouri to the United States Penitentiary at 
Leavenworth, Kansas. 

That on or about the 16th day of June, 1933, and continuously thereafter until the 
completion of the overt act hereinafter charged, at a point in and near Kansas City, Jackson 



County, Missouri, in the Western Division of the Western District of Missouri, and within the 
jurisdiction of this court, and at other places unknown to this grand jury, the defendant ADAM 
RICHETTI, and Charles Arthur Flyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and Vernon Miller, alias Verne 
Mason, alias Verne Moore and numerous and divers other persons whose names are to this 
grand jury unknown and cannot therefore be set forth specifically, did, at said times and places 
unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and feloniously conspire, confederate and agree together and 
with each other and among themselves to violate the laws of the United States of America, and 
particularly the laws of the United States of America pertaining to persons who shall rescue or 
attempt to rescue, from the custody of any officer or person lawfully assisting such officer, any 
person arrested upon a warrant or other process issued under the provisions of any law of the 
United States, or who shall aid, abet or assist any person so arrested to escape from the 
custody of such officer or other person, that is to say, to violate Section 246, Title 18, Code of 
Laws of the United States of America (Criminal Code, Section 141), in this, that they would 
thereafter unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and feloniously rescue and attempt to rescue the said 
Frank Nash from the custody of the said F. S. Smith and F. J. Lackey and other persons lawfully 
assisting them, and would thereafter unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and feloniously aid, abet 
and assist the said Frank Nash to escape from the custody of the said F. S. Smith and F. J. Lackey 
and all other persons lawfully assisting them, notwithstanding that the said Frank Nash was 
then properly committed by virtue of said commitment issued under the provisions of the laws 
of the United States of America, to the custody of the Attorney General and his agents 
aforesaid. 

That the defendant ADAM RICHETTI, and Charles Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and 
Vernon C. Miller, alias Verne Mason, alias Verne Moore and said others not named or hereby 
indicted in this indictment, and whose names are unknown to this grand jury as aforestated, 
thereafter, and on the 17th day of June, 1933, in pursuance of said conspiracy, and to effect the 
object and purpose of said conspiracy and to consummate the same, did, at Kansas City, 
Jackson County, Missouri, in the Western Division of the Western District of Missouri, and 
within the jurisdiction of this court, on said 17th day of June, 1933, unlawfully, wilfully, 
knowingly and feloniously commit certain overt acts for the purpose of carrying out the terms 
and conditions of said unlawful conspiracy, and to effect the object and purpose of said 
unlawful conspiracy, and to con- summate the same, one of which said overt acts is as follows: 
1. 

That after the formation of said conspiracy as aforesaid, and in pursuance thereof, the 
defendant ADAM RICHETTI, and Charles Arthur Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and Vernon C. 
Miller, alias Verne Mason, alias Verne Moore and said others not named herein and not herein 
indicted, and whose names are unknown to this grand jury as aforestated, did, on the 17th day 
of June, 1933, at Kansas City, Jackson County, Missouri, in the Western Division of the Western 
District of Missouri, and within the jurisdiction of this court, unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and 
feloniously assault the said F. S. Smith, the said F. J, Lackey, and one Raymond J. Caffrey and 
one R. E. Vetterli, agents of the United States Bureau of Investigation (now Division of 
Investigation) of the Department of Justice, who were then and there lawfully assisting said 
authorized agents and representatives of the Attorney General of the United States of America, 
and then and there unlawfully, wilfully, knowingly and feloniously assault one Frail Hermanson, 
and one William Grooms, police officers of Kansas City, Missouri, and Otto Reed, police officer 



of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, who were then and there lawfully assisting the said authorized 
agents and representatives of the Attorney General of the United States of America, by 
shooting at the said F.S. Smith, F. J. Lackey, Raymond J. Caffrey, R. E. Vetterli, Frank Hermanson, 
William Grooms and Otto Reed with certain deadly weapons, firearms and machine guns, and 
by inflicting mortal wounds in and upon the bodies of the said Raymond J. Caffrey, Frank 
Hermanson, William Grooms and Otto Reed by means of and by use of certain deadly weapons, 
firearms and machine guns; that said assault was made upon the said F. S. Smith, F. J. Lackey, 
Raymond J. Caffrey, R. E. Vetterli, Frank Hermanson, William Grooms and Otto Reed at said 
time and place, and at a time while the said Frank Hash was in the custody of said duly 
authorized agents of the Attorney General of the United States of America by virtue of the 
process aforesaid duly issued under the provisions of the laws of the United States of America 
and while all of said agents, representatives and officers were engaged in transporting the said 
Frank Hash, as such escaped prisoner and convict as aforesaid, from Kansas City, Jackson 
County, Missouri to the United States Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas. 

That the said overt act as set forth and charged of assaulting the said F. S. Smith, F. J. 
Lackey, Raymond J. Caffrey, E. Vetterli, Frank Hermanson, William Grooms and Otto Reed, and 
shooting the said F. J. Lackey, Raymond J. Caffrey, Frank Hermanson, William Grooms and Otto 
Reed was an overt act done and committed by the defendant ADAM RICHETTI, Charles Arthur 
Floyd, alias "Pretty Boy" Floyd and Vernon C. Miller alias Verne Mason, alias Verne Moore in 
pursuance of said unlawful conspiracy and to effect the object and purpose thereof and to 
consummate the same: Contrary to the form of the statute in such case made and provided, 
and against the peace and dignity of the United States of America. 
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